

IRF20/2651

Post Exhibition Submissions Report PP-2021-342

Proposed amendment to Shellharbour LEP 2013 for 95-105 Cooby Road, Tullimbar

October 2021



NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment | dpie.nsw.gov.au

Published by NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment

dpie.nsw.gov.au

Title: Post Exhibition Submissions Report PP-2021-342

Subtitle: Proposed amendment to Shellharbour LEP 2013 for 95-105 Cooby Road, Tullimbar

© State of New South Wales through Department of Planning, Industry and Environment 2021 You may copy, distribute, display, download and otherwise freely deal with this publication for any purpose, provided that you attribute the Department of Planning, Industry and Environment as the owner. However, you must obtain permission if you wish to charge others for access to the publication (other than at cost); include the publication in advertising or a product for sale; modify the publication; or republish the publication on a website. You may freely link to the publication on a departmental website.

Disclaimer: The information contained in this publication is based on knowledge and understanding at the time of writing [July 21] and may not be accurate, current or complete. The State of New South Wales (including the NSW Department of Planning, Industry and Environment), the author and the publisher take no responsibility, and will accept no liability, for the accuracy, currency, reliability or correctness of any information included in the document (including material provided by third parties). Readers should make their own inquiries and rely on their own advice when making decisions related to material contained in this publication.

Contents

1	Intr	oduction2				
	1.1	Planning proposal to amend the LEP2				
	1.2	The site - LEP controls2				
	1.3	The site and surround land uses4				
	1.4	Background5				
2	Public Exhibition					
	2.1	Public Exhibition – 15 March to 11 April 20217				
3	3 Submission Analysis					
	3.1	Local community submissions7				
	3.2	Shellharbour City Council Submissions7				
	3.2.	.1 Council Submission Summary7				
	3.3	Agency Submissions9				
	3.3.	.1 TfNSW Submissions				
	3.3.	2 Sydney Water Submission10				
	3.3.	.3 DPIE – Biodiversity and Conservation Division				
	3.3.	.4 DPIE – Heritage NSW				
	3.3.	5 Rural Fire Service Submissions11				
4	Pro	ponent Response to Submissions11				
5	Department Analysis of Submissions					
6	Dep	partment Recommendation14				
	Attach	15				

1 Introduction

1.1 Planning proposal to amend the LEP

The planning proposal (**Attachment A1**) seeks to amend the Shellharbour Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 2013 to rezone land at 95–105 Cooby Road, Tullimbar and apply development controls to enable the development of the land for housing and environmental conservation.

The land is deferred from the 2013 LEP and is zoned part 1(a) Rural and part 2(e) Mixed Use Residential under the Shellharbour LEP 2000.

1.2 The site - LEP controls

The subject land is identified as Lot 240 DP 828854, being 95–105 Cooby Road, Tullimbar. The site is irregular in shape and has an area of approximately 29ha (Figure 2, next page). Most of the land is zoned 1(a) Rural and the northern portion of the site is zoned 2(e) Mixed Use Residential.

The land comprises varying topography, with a cleared plateau, vegetated slopes and a creek corridor. It slopes upwards from north to south through vegetated areas to the plateau.

The site is heavily vegetated in some areas, and a biodiversity study accompanying the proposal identifies that the site contains endangered ecological communities (EECs) and other medium/high-value vegetation.

There is a natural creek corridor on the western part of the site and ridgelines along the western boundary and towards the middle of the property.

The land has been used for a variety of agricultural purposes and is currently used for grazing.

The site is approximately 650m from Tullimbar Public School and playing fields.

The site is zoned part 1(a) Rural and part 2(e) Mixed Use Residential under the Shellharbour LEP 2000.

The subject land – along with other land in the Albion Park/Tullimbar area known as the 'urban fringe' – was deferred when the Shellharbour LEP 2013 was made to allow investigations into higher residential densities.

The minimum lot size for subdivision and/or a dwelling on the 1(a)-zoned land is 40ha. There is no minimum lot size for the 2(e)-zoned land, although there are average lot sizes/minimum yields identified for Tullimbar in the Shellharbour DCP.

The 2000 LEP does not contain height or FSR controls.

The existing and proposed planning provisions are seen in **Table 1** below.

Provision	Existing	Proposed
Land use zone	2(e) Mixed Use Residential	R2 Low Density ResidentialE4 Environmental Living
	1(a) Rural	 R2 Low Density Residential R5 Large Lot Residential E4 Environmental Living E3 Environmental Management
Lot size	2(e) – no MLS	$R2 - 300m^2$ E4 - 2000m ²
	1(a) Rural – 40ha	$R2 - 300m^{2}$ $R5 - 2000m^{2}$ $E4 - 4000m^{2}$ $E3 - 4000m^{2}$
Height of building (HOB)	2(e) – no HOB	R2 - 9m E4 – 9m
(1(a) Rural – no HOB	R2 – 9m R5 – 9m E4 – 9m E3 – 9m
Local clause	N/A	Despite the minimum lot size, this clause restricts the number of lots fronting Cooby Road to a maximum of eight.

Table 1: Proposed planning provisions



Figure 1: The site and surrounding land zones

1.3 The site and surround land uses

As seen in Figure 2, the site is bound by:

- West Rural RU1 zoned land;
- North Existing residential subdivision under development;
- East Land subject to a separate Planning Proposal to rezone to residential zones; and
- South E4 zoned lots with existing dwellings.



Figure 2: The site and surrounding land

1.4 Background

On 8 January 2019, Urbanco Group Pty Ltd submitted a planning proposal to Shellharbour City Council seeking to amend the Shellharbour Local Environmental Plan (LEP) 2013 to rezone land at 95–105 Cooby Road, Tullimbar and apply development controls to enable the development of the land for housing and environmental conservation.

The land is deferred from the 2013 LEP and zoned part 1(a) Rural and part 2(e) Mixed Use Residential under the Shellharbour LEP 2000.

Parts of the subject land – including land within the rural-zoned area – have been identified for housing since 1999, including in the Shellharbour Development Control Plan (DCP). Council resolved to defer the subject land from the 2013 LEP to investigate appropriate residential densities.

The proposal seeks to rezone the land to a mix of R2 Low Density Residential, R5 Large Lot Residential, E4 Environmental Living, E3 Environmental Management and E2 Environmental Conservation and proposes minimum lot sizes ranging from 300m2 to 4000m2. A concept plan provided with the proposal indicates the potential for approximately 137 lots.

A rezoning review request was considered by the Southern Regional Planning Panel (the Panel) and the Panel determined on 03 March 2020 that the planning proposal should be submitted for a Gateway determination because the proposal has demonstrated strategic and site-specific merit (**Attachment B**).

A Gateway determination was issued on 20 July 2020 (Attachment C) which required, prior to public exhibition, the planning proposal be amended to:

• The planning proposal shall be updated prior to public exhibition to:

a. Amend height of building maps to apply a height of 9m consistent with other similarly zoned land across the Shellharbour LGA; and

b. Apply the E3 Environmental Management Zone to land proposed to be zoned E2 Environmental Conservation consistent with the zoning of riparian areas elsewhere in the Shellharbour LGA.

- Additional bushfire and ecological investigations are required to identify/support proposed zones and lot sizes for the vegetated slopes (precincts 3 & 4). Investigations should consider potential vegetation losses due to bushfire management to support lot sizes that will not have an unacceptable impact on environmental values.
- The existing ecological study shall be updated to consider the opportunity for credits under the Biodiversity Assessment Methodology. These investigations may result in further changes to the planning proposal.
- The proposed application of the R2 zone on the northern area of the plateau requires further justification that considers topography and vegetation. This information should be provided to the Department prior to public exhibition.
- Consultation is required with the following public authorities/organisations under section 3.34(2)(d) of the Act and/or to comply with the requirements of relevant section 9.1 Directions:
 - DPIE Environment, Energy and Science Biodiversity and Conservation
 - Transport for NSW
 - NSW Rural Fire Service
 - Shellharbour City Council
 - DPIE Heritage NSW
 - DPIE Biodiversity and Conservation Division
 - Sydney Water

PP-2021-342

2 Public Exhibition

2.1 Public Exhibition – 15 March to 11 April 2021

As required by the Gateway determination, public exhibition under section 3.34(2)(c) and schedule 1 clause 4 of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979* (the Act) was carried out from 15 March to 11 April 2021.

As required by the Gateway determination, DPIE – Environment, Energy and Science – Biodiversity and Conservation, Transport for NSW, NSW Rural Fire Service and Shellharbour City Council were consulted.

One local community submission was received from a local community member with questions about the planning proposal. These questions were answered by DPIE.

3 Submission Analysis

For ease of analysis submissions have been grouped as follows:

- Local community submissions (Attachment Local Community Submissions)
- Council submissions (Attachment Council Submissions)
- Agency submissions (Attachments TfNSW Submissions, RFS Submissions, Sydney Water Submissions, Heritage NSW Submissions, DPIE Submissions

3.1 Local community submissions

One local community submission was made (Attachment Local Community Submissions). A detailed summary of the submission can be found in Table 2.

Table 2: Local community concerns

Local Community member/Group	Concerns raised
Submission 1	Questions regarding previous DA
	Questioning why proposed lot sizes were reduced from 10,000m2 to smaller lots
	Questioning building envelope size
	Questioning the number of trees for removal

3.2 Shellharbour City Council Submissions

Council provided a submission during the consultation period and a further submission in response to Agency submissions (Attachment Council Submissions).

3.2.1 Council Submission Summary

Council raised the following items in their response:

Proposed zoning and concept lot layout

Council does not support the subdivision of areas of native vegetation, in particular Endangered Ecological Communities (EECs) as identified in the Ecoplanning, Ecological Constraints Assessment, 21 August 2019 and areas identified in the Urbanco Concept Layout Plan, 31 July 2019 as Environmental Living and Rural Interface/Transition. As identified in the Ecoplanning Report, the area has considerable constraints due to the vegetation type and conservation status.

The area also has good connectivity to the surrounding vegetation, which would be considerably compromised if the Planning Proposal was approved in the current format. Subdividing the Environmental Living and Rural Interface/Transition lands would require further vegetation clearance by individual landowners to accommodate built structures and fences and provide an inconsistent maintenance regime.

Council supports the proposed riparian zone change from E2 Environmental Conservation to E3 Environmental Management.

Council does not support the subdivision of the riparian corridor into individual lots with separate owners. Council considers it would not have a positive outcome for the vegetation and operation of the riparian corridor. It is also likely to provide inconsistent maintenance into the future. A positive outcome would be to have the riparian corridor retained by one or two owners.

Conservation Options

Council supports the retention of the important EEC vegetation in as large a holding as possible to minimise adverse impacts to that vegetation.

The proponent has a Vegetation Management Plan for the site, and this will be reviewed to consider the impacts on important vegetation Development Application is submitted for the subdivision of the land, should the rezoning of the adjoining land proceed.

Asset protection zones

Council does not support the clearing of moderate/high value vegetation for asset protection zones. Council raised concerns on the location of the indicative building envelopes and potential impacts on vegetation to create the asset protection zones. Council believe that this issue could be minimised by the reduction in the number of lots (increase in lot size) or changes to zoning so that land containing Endangered Ecological Communities are not cleared to create asset protection zones in these areas.

Floodplain risk management

Council notes that there are minor inconsistencies with Local Planning Direction 4.3 – Flood Prone Land, but these are of minor significance, if the applicant can demonstrate there are provisions within the proposal for timely, orderly and safe access for emergency personnel to the site during times of flood. Other matters that relate to the principles of the Floodplain Development Manual (2005) and the objectives and performance criteria of the DCP and LEP could be addressed through good development design of the land.

Water quality

Council was satisfied with this level of assessment for a planning proposal. Additional information and details would be required should a development application be prepared and submitted in the future. Such details will need to comply with the relevant pollutant targets in place at that time.

Council comments on Transport for NSW comments (TfNSW)

TfNSW suggested that a voluntary planning agreement be entered into by the proponent for intersection upgrades. Council does not believe this to be an appropriate mechanism as the relevant development consent (741/2002 Pt 12) to provide the traffic signals does not apply to this land. Therefore, entering into a voluntary planning agreement with the Planning Proposal proponent to provide the signals is not practical or achievable.

The delivery of the traffic signals is the responsibility of the developer (Allam Property Group) acting on Development Consent 741/2002 Pt 12. This developer is a third party and not the landowner of this Planning Proposal or the adjoining Planning Proposal 4/2018.

The traffic signals are included in Council's Local Infrastructure Contributions Plan (Item C3.12) at a cost of \$308,621. The cost of the current design of the traffic signals is about \$1.4 million and there is about an \$875,000.00 shortfall in funding for the lights.

In view of the significant financial mismatch between the actual cost of delivery of the lights and the funds currently collected and able to be collected in the future, Council staff have been discussing with Allam Property Group an appropriate mechanism for delivery of the traffic lights.

A mechanism for funding the upgrade was considered by Council in relation to a Planning Proposal on the adjoining property (PP4/2018). At that meeting, Council resolved to:

Endorse the delivery mechanism for traffic lights at the intersection of Church Street and the Illawarra Highway in the manner outlined in the Consultations External Government Departments/Agencies section of this report, with a further report to Council once a formal letter of offer to enter into a voluntary planning agreement has been received.

Council staff are of the view that the Council resolution provides a way forward to deliver the traffic signals and addresses the TfNSW submission.

3.3 Agency Submissions

3.3.1 TfNSW Submissions

TfNSW provided the following comments with regards to the planning proposal and the impact to the state road network:

- TfNSW does not support the planning proposal in its current form. TfNSW notes the development of this site is contributing to increase in traffic to existing intersections on the Illawarra Highway eg. Yellow Rock Road, Broughton Avenue and Church Street.
- TfNSW notes traffic signals are required at the intersection of Church Street/Illawarra Highway and construction of the signals form a condition of consent under DA647/2015. TfNSW does not believe suitable arrangements are in place within the subject planning proposal to ensure the upgrades are delivered in a timely manner.
- TfNSW believes the planning proposal should not proceed until such time signals are provided at the intersection of Church Street/Illawarra Highway or there is a suitable mechanism in place (e.g. a voluntary planning agreement with the landowner for this planning proposal) to ensure the upgrade is delivered prior to residential development occurring on Lot 240 DP828854.

As detailed previously, Council has resolved to endorse a delivery mechanism for the traffic signals.

3.3.2 Sydney Water Submission

Sydney Water raised no objections and confirmed that the area can be serviced.

3.3.3 DPIE – Biodiversity and Conservation Division

A summary of the comments are as follows:

- Although the proposed zoning layout largely retains endangered ecological communities (EECs), based on the proposed E4 zoning it is highly likely that retained Illawarra Lowland Grassy Woodland and Illawarra Subtropical Rainforest EEC vegetation will be significantly impacted over time. It is suggested that the proposed E4 "arc" which, combined with a likely future fragmented Lot layout, is reconsidered as it would inevitably lead to direct and indirect impacts on the retained vegetation.
- It is noted that the concept Lot layout has not been endorsed at this stage. However, EEC vegetation is likely to be highly fragmented over time should future development result in multiple large residential Lots as currently indicated. We therefore recommend that intact vegetation be preserved within one larger ownership, subject to an appropriate mechanism to achieve in-perpetuity conservation outcomes. This could either be attached to a single developable Lot or comprise a conservation Lot in an alternative tenure, such as community title, allowing for development of smaller unconstrained Lots.
- It is recommended that a detailed assessment for the management of runoff and riparian treatments needs to be completed, to ensure consistency with Shellharbour City Council's Lake Illawarra Coastal Management Plan (CMP) and to adequately manage downstream flood impacts. This will ensure that the rezoning and resultant development does not create adverse off-site impacts, providing development outcomes that achieve public safety and maintain waterway health for the sensitive receiving waters.

3.3.4 DPIE – Heritage NSW

Heritage NSW objects to the Planning Proposal in the current form as the impact of future development on Aboriginal cultural heritage has not been adequately considered.

An Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment and consultation with the Aboriginal community needs to occur early in the planning process to identify Aboriginal cultural heritage values that may occur within the proposal area and establish how this may constrain future development.

The assessment needs to identify any preliminary planning or design measures that could be employed to avoid or mitigate harm to Aboriginal cultural heritage if Aboriginal objects are identified.

An Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment undertaken early and as part of the planning process will also provide increased certainty to any future development applications and may minimise further assessment at a later stage.

Heritage NSW recommends that the Planning Proposal is revised to adequately consider the Aboriginal cultural heritage values and constraints of the proposal and to ensure consistency

with the requirements of Section 9.1 (Direction 2.3 - Heritage Conservation) of the *Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979*.

Heritage NSW would expect that the results of the Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment to result in the refinement of the areas of potential and a concerted effort to avoid or mitigate the disturbance to Aboriginal cultural heritage within the proposed development area.

3.3.5 Rural Fire Service Submissions

The initial response from RFS had concerns including:

- Cumulative impacts of rezonings which has potential to exacerbate traffic congestion issues with regards to emergency service response capacity
- RFS recommend the preparation of a Strategic Bush Fire Study (SBFS) that addresses development potential within the locality (ie adjoining 'deferred' land, some of which is currently subject to separate planning proposals) to demonstrate proposed and existing roads can support the fully developed catchment to demonstrates the site is suitable for the development. The SBFS should demonstrate the proposal can support operational response vehicles and orderly evacuation of residents in the event of an emergency.
- Layout concerns

A meeting between RFS, the NSW Department of Planning Industry and Environment Southern Region and 'Planning Delivery Unit', the landowner including consultants and staff from Shellharbour City Council was held on the 27 August 2021 to discuss the RFS submission.

There was clear commentary from Shellharbour City Council staff that the traffic study and access network shown in documents submitted with the Planning Proposal will satisfactorily meet existing and future needs (of the total developed capacity) and achieve suitable traffic flows. This commentary was confirmed in Shellharbour City Council's email discussing the adequacy of access arrangements dated 2 September 2021. An alternative emergency access can be provided.

As a result of Council's comments regarding the proposed traffic and access network in combination with the Strategic Bush Fire Study prepared by Peterson Bushfire dated 31 August 2021 ref: 18060, the NSW RFS raise no objection to the progression of the Planning Proposal.

4 Proponent Response to Submissions

The proponent was provided with redacted submissions and invited to provide a response to submissions. On 13 September 2021, the proponent provided the following response to submissions documents, which have been combined into a single document (Attachment **Proponent Response to Submissions)**.

Key issues	Proponent response	
	A Strategic Bush Fire Study has been completed in collaboration with the adjoining land owner and has been endorsed by the Rural Fire Service.	

Table 3: Proponent response to submissions

Key issues	Proponent response
Transport for NSW	A detailed Traffic Impact Assessment was submitted with the Planning Proposal.
	The traffic report included an assessment of the development's traffic generation and a qualitative assessment of the expected development traffic impact
	Based on the above assessment, the report concluded that there are no significant traffic or transport impacts associated with the proposed development to preclude its approval and relevant conditioning based on relevant transport planning grounds.
	We note that Council's Traffic Engineer reviewed the proposal and associated traffic report and did not require any upgrades to the intersections referred to by TfNSW.
	We therefore consider that this matter has been fully addressed in the Planning Proposal as lodged and assessed.
	Any local road upgrades required will be funded through relevant Section 7.11 contributions.
	As noted, the upgrade of the Church Street/Illawarra Highway intersection form a condition of consent under DA 647/2015. Delivery of this intersection and associated mechanisms are addressed under Development Consent 647/2015 and is not applicable to this rezoning.
	Furthermore, the detailed traffic modelling completed for the proposal demonstrates that there is no significant impact on the surrounding road network.
	We note that TfNSW have not commented on or raised any disagreement with the traffic modelling outcomes prepared in association with the Planning Proposal.
Heritage NSW	The Due Diligence Review completed by the Illawarra Aboriginal Land Council is the recommended investigation to be completed under Aboriginal Heritage Assessment guidelines.
	At this stage, it is not appropriate to undertake a full ACHA and test excavations. This could result in unnecessary disturbance of land and artefact.
	The site survey identified that the ridgeline spur landforms that were present either side of the gully are likely to contain moderate archaeological potential for low density artefact deposits.
	No areas of the site were identified as having potential to contain high levels of artefact deposits.
	Consistent with aboriginal heritage guidelines, an ACHA will be prepared following rezoning, prior to lodgement of any Development Application to guide design outcomes.

Key issues	Proponent response
Shellharbour Council	Matters have been resolved in previous consideration by the planning panel. Council has provided no detail or justification for the lot yield restriction.
	Additional Ecological assessment was undertaken prior to exhibition which further addressed this matter. Council has provided no ecological report or justification for their objection.
	The proposal retains all key areas of vegetation.
	Building footprints are sensitively located to minimise vegetation impacts.
	The proposal is fully supported by a detailed ecological assessment.
	Vegetation Management Plan will be prepared as part of any future Development Application and referenced on title to ensure appropriate management of vegetation areas.
	There will be no impacts or impediments to vegetation and fauna connectivity.
	Single ownership of the residual vegetation would be a poor outcome as:
	This would create uncertainty regarding land ownership and access;
	• The maintenance burden for vegetation management would be excessive for one owner;
	We note that Council has previously been advised the vegetation area is not large enough to from a stewardship site.
	The vegetation is directly connected to the Riparian Corridor.
	Any land dedication will be addressed either as Works in Kind under the adopted Section 7.11 Plan or through a VPA.
	We note that further detailed bushfire planning and reporting has been completed following exhibition.
	A detailed Strategic Bushfire Evacuation Plan has been prepared considering both the proposal and the adjoining rezoning.
	The RFS have now raised no objection to the proposal.
	A detailed Bushfire Assessment will be prepared with any future Development Application addressing the Planning for Bushfire Protection Guidelines 2019.
5 Depar	tment Analysis of Submissions

The Department highlights the following key points raised within all submissions:

- <u>Local community submissions</u> one submission was received regarding the planning proposal. Questions were raised about the number of trees for removal, the lot sizes and the building envelope sizes.
- <u>Council has raised concerns with aspects of this planning proposal</u> Council raised concerns including environmental impacts and incompatibility with the environmental living land zone, and water quality treatment.
- <u>TfNSW</u> TfNSW raised concerns with traffic safety and upgrades required to intersections.

- <u>NSW RFS</u> initially raised concerns with the Planning Proposal, but withdrew their objection following resolution of concerns.
- <u>DPIE Heritage NSW</u> objects to the proposal in its current form and recommends preparation of an Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Assessment for the planning proposal.
- <u>DPIE</u> <u>Biodiversity</u> and <u>Conservation</u> <u>Division</u> suggests reconsideration of fragmentation of environmental lands, detailed assessment for the management of runoff and riparian treatments is required.

6 Department Recommendation

There were no community objections to the Planning Proposal.

Council's objections to the Planning Proposal largely focussed on the lot layout and size of lots in environmentally sensitive areas and water quality treatment. While the lot layout will not be approved by the Planning Proposal and will require assessment under a DA, it is relevant to apply appropriate zonings and lot sizes to guide future outcomes.

Council are of the view that there is a suitable mechanism in place for the intersection upgrades to be delivered, which addressed TfNSW's concern.

Earlier objections by RFS have been resolved, with RFS no longer objecting to the Planning Proposal.

DPIE – Biodiversity and Conservation Division's concern relates to the fragmentation of the EEC's similar to Council's views.

DPIE – Heritage NSW recommend early consultation and the preparation of an ACHAR for the planning proposal which could further refine the development area and layout.

The Department considers that there are no unresolved issues that would prevent the rezoning of the site. Mitigation strategies can be found to resolve concerns raised in submissions, several of which have been resolved. The environmental impacts can be managed through potential amendments to the planning proposal in response to submissions, through preparation of a site-specific Development Control Plan or through development assessment processes.

Un Tones 28/3/22

Graham Towers A/Director, Southern Region

Attachments

Attachment A1-A9 – Planning Proposal Package

Attachment B – Rezoning Review Decision - June 2019

Attachment C – Gateway Determination - November 2019

Attachment Local Community Submissions

Attachment Council Submissions

Attachment TfNSW Submissions

Attachment RFS Submissions

Attachment DPIE – Heritage NSW Submission

Attachment DPIE – Biodiversity & Conservation Submission

Attachment Proponent Response to Submissions